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City of Elko  ) 

County of Elko ) 

State of Nevada )     SS September 27, 2019 

 

The City Council of the City of Elko, State of Nevada met for a special meeting 

beginning at 2:00 p.m., Tuesday, September 27, 2019. 

 

 This meeting was called to order by Mayor Reece Keener. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 
 

ROLL CALL 

 

Mayor Present: Mayor Reece Keener 

 

Council Present: Councilwoman Mandy Simons 

Councilman Robert Schmidtlein 

Councilman Chip Stone 

   Councilman Bill Hance 

 

City Staff Present: Curtis Calder, City Manager 

Scott Wilkinson, Assistant City Manager 

Kelly Wooldridge, City Clerk 

   Bob Thibault, Civil Engineer 

   Ben Reed Jr., Police Chief 

Ty Trouten, Police Captain 

Jacob Eisinger, Police Detective 

Tom Coyle, Deputy City Attorney 

Dave Stanton, City Attorney 

Diann Byington, Recording Secretary 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC 

 

Pursuant to N.R.S. 241, this time is devoted to comments by the public, if any, and 

discussion of those comments. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this 

item on the agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on a successive 

agenda and identified as an item for possible action. ACTION WILL NOT BE TAKEN 

 

There were no public comments. 

 

The following agenda item contains detailed testimony regarding an appeal to Council.  

Attention was given to include as much discussion on this item as possible, but the wording 

is not verbatim. 
 

I. PETITIONS, APPEALS, AND COMMUNICATIONS 
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A. Consideration of an appeal from Nualla LLC d/b/a Cabo and its members and 

principals, including but not limited to Acela Ceja and Carlos Nunez, of the City 

of Elko's notice of "Non-Renewal of Liquor License," which liquor license 

expires on September 30, 2019, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE 

ACTION  

 

 Nualla LLC d/b/a Cabo is currently on probation, resulting from prior Liquor 

Code violation(s).  On August 29, 2019, the City of Elko provided a "Notice of 

Non-Renewal of Liquor License" to the members and principals of Nualla LLC 

d/b/a Cabo based on the grounds set forth therein. A copy of the notice has been 

included in the agenda packet for review. CC 

  

Mayor Keener noted the appellant, Acela Ceja, was present.  He asked her if she had legal 

counsel representing her. 

 

Acela Ceja answered she did not. 

 

Mayor Keener said she will be representing herself.  He asked City Attorney Tom Coyle to begin 

the hearing. 

 

Tom Coyle, Deputy City Attorney, said there were a few housekeeping items they needed to go 

through as they begin the hearing.  Initially, the City will name three witnesses for the appeal 

hearing, Detective Jake Eisinger, City Clerk, Kelly Wooldridge and Police Chief, Ben Reed.  

Before the hearing could be held, we are required under NRS Chapter 241, to prove up, 

especially the 241 notices, proof of service.  He handed that document to the Clerk at that time 

(Exhibit “A”).  That document does show that the non-renewal notice was served on the licensee 

on August 30th of this year. 

 

Mayor Keener asked Attorney Coyle to pull the microphone closer to him so that those listening 

on the internet can hear better.   

 

Attorney Coyle continued the notice of non-renewal was served personally on August 30th of this 

year.  The 241 notices that permit the City to discuss the character, competence, misconduct, 

etc., the person, was served on Acela Ceja on September 17, 2019, Carlos Nunez on September 

17, 2019, and Danny Hoang, he’s not one of the named licensees in this particular matter but his 

conduct would certainly be a potential for some testimony today so they served him as well.  

Prior to starting with the appellant’s testimony, he asked Mr. Mayor that he would request from 

the appellant to name her perspective witnesses.  He would put Mr. Mayor as the presiding 

officer of the appeal hearing on notice that the City intends to object to any disclosure of the 

confidential source that provided video evidence in this matter and to any discussions of the 

character, competence, or misconduct of individuals that were not served the 241 notices.  Then 

finally, he was handing out at that time, which he had previously given to the appellant, an 

exhibit packet for each Councilmember (Exhibit “B”), which during the testimony they 

anticipate there will be many references to the documents contained therein, and thought it 

would be appropriate for each Councilmember to have that so they can follow along.  At this 

point it is an appeal hearing and it’s appropriate to hear from the appellant.  He asked that she be 

sworn in as a witness and to provide her testimony from the seat designated for witnesses so she 

could be recorded.    



 

09/27/2019 Special Council Session Cabo Hearing  Page 3 of 32 

 

Mayor Keener asked Ms. Ceja to sit at the furthest seat and Kelly Wooldridge swore her in. 

 

Mayor Keener asked if people watching online could see the seat that Ms. Ceja was sitting in.  If 

not they may want her to switch places.   

 

Diann Byington, Recording Secretary, indicated that the camera did see Ms. Ceja. 

 

Mayor Keener asked Ms. Ceja to state her name and address for the record. 

 

Acela Ceja answered 449 Railroad Street. 

 

Mayor Keener said, for the record, she will be representing herself. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered she would. 

 

Mayor Keener asked if she had any witnesses here with her that she would be calling. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered she did not, no. 

 

Mayor Keener said he knew in a hearing like this, it’s really kind of an extraordinary 

circumstance to have a hearing to begin with of this nature, and it’s even more extraordinary that 

to not have legal counsel to help represent you.  Do you understood the charges that you are 

facing with respect to your business license and have you had a chance to review what the City 

Attorney has provided in terms of the evidence?   

 

Ms. Ceja answered she did.  Unfortunately it was just too close of a timeframe to get anything 

with a legal counsel.   

 

Mayor Keener asked if she had a statement to make as it pertains to her appeal. 

 

Ms. Ceja said that as of May he (Carlos Nunez) wasn’t operating.  He was supposed to buy her 

out and it wasn’t happening so, in turn she bought him out.  She does have a buyer but it has to 

be in a working process.  He doesn’t want it stopped if he is going to purchase it.  The only 

reason Carlos was there was because he was working off a debt that he owes to her, so he was 

just playing for free.  They had been separated for quite a while and he’s been unable to pay on 

anything so that’s the way he was working off some of the debt that he has on her.  He is no 

longer, she sent a copy of the state business license where he’s…  He wouldn’t sign off of it until 

he was completely paid off.  Now that he’s paid off, he signed off of it and he is no longer in it.  

In fact, he is not even allowed in the building.  She wanted Council to hear her out and 

reconsider not giving the business license.  This was his actions and not hers.  She does not 

condone them.  Until she saw the video, she did not believe it was true.  She had questions of the 

identity but the video was clear.  She could not deny that part.  This is, essentially, the only 

way…  She doesn’t have another job other than this so this is the only way she provides for her 

children.   

 

Mayor Keener thanked her for that.  He asked if Council had some questions for the appellant. 
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Attorney Coyle had some questions.  In Exhibit 1 was the appeal document.  In that she admits 

that she was still on probation from the previous liquor license disciplinary matter, correct?   

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct.   

 

Attorney Coyle said, also in that exhibit, you admit that the actions asserted against Nuala are a 

violation of that probation agreement, correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if she would agree pursuant to the terms of the agreement that the fact of 

your prior discipline can be considered in a later disciplinary action for a period of five years. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered she wasn’t aware… 

 

Attorney Coyle said if you look at exhibit 2 for the disciplinary agreement, page 7 paragraph 10, 

it describes the violation admitted here may be considered in determining the appropriate level of 

discipline in any subsequent business license or liquor license disciplinary action against the 

business or the license, or acts or omissions which occurred within 60 months of the Council 

approval of the agreement.  Do you see that on page 9 of the packet? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes she saw it.  She saw some of the pictures and got sidetracked.   

 

Attorney Coyle said the agreement was signed by Ms. Ceja, correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct.    

 

Attorney Coyle added, and also by Carlos? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct. 

 

Attorney Coyle said at that time he was a managing member of Nuala LLC? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered on paper, yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said when you look at the factual basis set forth in the notice of non-renewal, 

which begins on page 11, exhibit number 3, paragraph A, Factual Basis, do you contest any of 

the factual basis that is set forth there? 

 

Ms. Ceja asked number 11? 

 

Attorney Coyle said yes, page 12, paragraph A, the Factual Basis sent out on the notice of non-

renewal.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered she does but she wants council to consider that these were not her actions. 

 

Mr. Coyle said not hers individually? 
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Ms. Ceja said he is no longer anywhere in the business.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked if she admits that she viewed the video evidence that the City references in 

that paragraph. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle added and that it shows that Carlos Nunez engaged in possessing and using 

cocaine in another liquor license establishment in the City of Elko? 

 

Ms. Ceja said it looked like cocaine.  She wouldn’t know. 

 

Attorney Coyle said Nuala LLC is the owner of the business entity that runs the Cabo bar? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said, Cabo is a fictitious name for Nuala? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said at present, the members of Nuala are just herself?   

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked have there been changes made to the members in the past one year. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered Carlos was out.  He’s never been in Cabo but they were working on getting 

him out of Nuala since about late April.  They currently have a new accountant, the new manager 

going on too.   

 

Attorney Coyle said the document she attached to her appeal document shows she is the only 

manager.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if that is the only change that has happened. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes, just changed their personnel altogether.   

 

Attorney Coyle said that is dated September 6, 2019 if you look at page 4. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked is that when it actually became official.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 
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Attorney Coyle said that is approximately two weeks after she received the notice of non-

renewal, correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes.  She went in to talk to Debbie (Henseler, Business License Technician) 

and that was when she received a copy.  She was not aware of Carlos being served with a 

document until then.  

 

Attorney Coyle asked, other than that attachment to the appeal document that she filed, she had 

given the City any notice of any changes with Nuala prior to that time. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered she didn’t.  She was unaware that she needed to. 

 

Attorney Coyle said she says she bought out Carlos.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what percentage of an owner was he when she bought him out?   

 

Ms. Ceja answered he was 49(%).   

 

Attorney Coyle said, in the appeal document she states that Mr. Nunez is removed from Nuala 

LLC by reason of that document that she filed.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what precisely does that mean to her if he has been removed. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered that he has no place, no action, no reason to be in the business.  He has zero 

to do, whatsoever, in running there, being there. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if he has an ownership interest.  

 

Ms. Ceja answered no. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if she has fully paid him off.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered he has been paid off, yes.   

 

Attorney Coyle said if you look at page 78, which would be found in exhibit no. 10 that shows 

another filing with the Secretary of State that shows he was a manager or managing member at 

that time, correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct.  This was when she was still working on the paperwork.   

 

Attorney Coyle said that continued in force and effect until you filed this new document on 

September 16, 2019.   
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Ms. Ceja said if you also could take into consideration that the Secretary of State did website 

changes at the end of July to early August so they are 6-8 weeks behind.  It took about 7 weeks 

for this document to occur because she had to change the business lawyer as well.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked when was it submitted to the Secretary of State. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered she would have to go with her lawyer.  She is dealing with Gerber now and 

not Katie McConnell.  She is no longer the business lawyer.  But they had to submit the 

registered agent first before they could do anything about it. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if there was a buyout agreement that she has with Carlos in writing.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered no, not with her.  She didn’t bring it. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked how about Nuala.  Is there some sort of an agreement with Carlos on that 

in writing? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered there is, in writing, but she didn’t have it with her.  But she could provide.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked if there were any entity formalities that were entered, like resolutions or 

minutes of meetings where he was bought out. 

 

Ms. Ceja said it’s all in the folder but she didn’t bring it.  He has…  We had to go through the 

proper procedure.    

 

Attorney Coyle asked if she knew when the effective date of the buyout agreement was. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered the date that they changed the…  The date they removed it which would… 

 

Attorney Coyle said the 9/16 date. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered the 9/16.  He wouldn’t sign before then.  He had already received payments 

for it but he wouldn’t sign off completely he was 100% bought off.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked while he was listed as a managing member, as they saw on page 78, he had 

management responsibilities for Cabo, is that correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered not since August, no April.  He was working as a DJ’ing to pay off the debt.  

Whatever she was going to pay for a DJ he was paying her.  Or she wasn’t paying the DJ, if that 

makes sense. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if that was reflected in anything in writing.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what that would be. 
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Ms. Ceja answered she would have to provide a letter and bring it later this afternoon.  Just the 

DJ’ing contract.  He was a contracted DJ.  And that was all his operations were there. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked prior to him becoming a contract DJ, he had management responsibilities?  

And the City was never advised of any change of his responsibilities when that occurred, 

correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered no. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if she would agree he was the primary manager at Cabo from April 25, 

2018 until they made that change. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked when did he become an owner of the business. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered when they started it in 2016.  She believed it was April.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked, in 2016, back when they had the license with her and Tino Ayala.  

 

Ms. Ceja said yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if he had the 49% then.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered no, they shared the 50%.   

 

Attorney Coyle said on page 52, you made a liquor license application, and in Paragraph 6 it says 

to name all owners, partners, corporate officers, members, etc.  He is not on that list on your 

application, correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja asked if that was for the liquor license. 

 

Attorney Coyle said this is page 52, your liquor license application. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered ya, he wasn’t going to be on the liquor license. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked it says name all owners, correct?  And members, correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct. 

 

Attorney Coyle said the same with page 84.  This was the next time she applied for a liquor 

license for Cabo.  This time it solely lists her but he was also an owner at that time, correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered of the LLC, yes.   

 

Attorney Coyle said the LLC is licensee, correct?  

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct. 
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Attorney Coyle said since the change where he became a contract DJ, Mr. Nunez, how often was 

he permitted in the establishment.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered now he is no longer permitted but before it was Thursday, Friday and 

Saturday.   

 

Attorney Coyle said those were the only days of your operation. 

 

Ms. Ceja indicated yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said she is saying sometime in April you made that change. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said and from April until September 16th of this year, he was allowed in as the 

DJ.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered ya. 

 

Attorney Coyle said when he was allowed on the premises, were you present at all times he was 

present. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered no. 

 

Attorney Coyle said as the contract DJ, what activities was he permitted to do with regard to the 

business. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered play music. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if that was it. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered that’s it. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if she was aware of him performing any other duties? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered no, just every once in a while he would help the girls with the ice machine 

for beverages but that is what the other guys do as well.   

 

Attorney Coyle said other guys being? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered securities. 

 

Attorney Coyle said that ordinarily just a DJ wouldn’t be doing that, correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct but sometimes when she hires Arturo or anybody else, they will do 

the same.  They will see the girls struggling with something heavy and they will help them out. 
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Attorney Coyle asked if she was aware of him performing any other activities, such as 

purchasing alcohol. 

 

Ms. Ceja asked at the establishment? 

 

Attorney Coyle said yes. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered no.  

 

Attorney Coyle asked are you aware that a licensee cannot sell alcohol purchased from other 

retailers; that they must obtain that from distributers?   

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if she recalled being involved in the liquor license for Cabo from April 

2016 to July 2017. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said at that point you were listed as 50% owner with another individual. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if she recalled in November 2016, receiving a letter regarding complaints 

of cleanliness concerning the bar premises. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes.  It was outside by the garbages and they got that.  And also about the 

cleanliness, they have been, even with the new garbage cans, establishing that lot, they are still 

having to clean it this weekend before the murals were painted.  She has a couple of guys just 

help power wash the walls and everything for them.  They cleaned up the whole alleyway.  They 

have done that a few times. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if she was aware during that same timeframe, that the liquor license of 

Cabo was revoked on July 21 of 2017. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said that was due to failure to pay the license fee, is that correct. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked do you recall during that timeframe, with that ownership, that there were 

late water and sewer payments a total of 12 times.  

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said that there were seven shutoff notices to Cabo during that timeframe. 
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Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said and at least one shutoff occurred. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said regarding the current license situation, where Carlos was this 49% owner, 

do you remember when you obtained that license.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked when was that. 

 

Ms. Ceja said she doesn’t remember exact dates but she thought it was May 2018 when they 

finished doing the remodeling and all that stuff. 

 

Attorney Coyle said since that time, would it be correct to say that you’ve had one late liquor 

license payment. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said and one prior liquor license disciplinary matter that resulted in the probation 

agreement. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if she recalled that they have had 12 late payments on water bills and 

sewer bills since July 2018.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said and the water has been shut off twice during that timeframe.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes.  It wasn’t really supposed to be her responsibility.  She was going to be 

bought out.  That was the initial agreement that she was going to be bought out.  So she dropped 

her responsibilities and she also had some medical issues she had to attend.  She was hardly in 

Elko for that.   

 

Attorney Coyle said there were two shutoffs. 

 

Ms. Ceja said yes, there was.  With the new accountant they have…  They grabbed the computer 

and all the paperwork and they have the new accountant and he is going to be in charge of 

mailing out the payments and everything. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked who is the new accountant. 

 

Ms. Ceja said she forgot his name right now. 
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Attorney Coyle asked when was he hired. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered he was hired 2 or 3 months ago.   

 

Attorney Coyle said since she has been an owner/licensee of Cabo, did she recall how many 

times she has had meetings with the Chief of Police concerning issues at Cabo. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked how many times would you estimate. 

 

Ms. Ceja asked if he meant including when they were doing the liquor license. 

 

Attorney Coyle answered no. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered 2 or 3, then for the liquor license and then special events. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if she was aware that Cabo has some issues with the State Department of 

Taxation at this time. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes and that is getting resolved as well. 

 

Attorney Coyle said in looking at exhibit 4, which begins on page 14, do you know what is 

shown in exhibit 4? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered she actually met with the guy last week and they are working with him, or he 

is working them to resolve this.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked the person that this states? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked would it be correct where he, in the September 26, 2019 letter, says there 

is an outstanding tax balance of $10,000 plus dollars. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said and that returns have not been filed for sales tax for the periods ending 

August 31, 2018, October 31, 2018 and July 31, 2019. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes and the agreement is that they are doing it monthly and every month they 

are doing the monthly payment plus a back payment, and if possible, more than one month at a 

time.   

 

Attorney Coyle said they have actually filed a lien which is shown on page number 16, is that 

correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes.   
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Attorney Coyle said there is an agreement to make the payments.  Was there an agreement to 

actually file the returns that are missing?   

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes.  And when they received the documents back from Carlos and the 

person that was doing the books for him, it was basically all in a box.  They have to do the 

separation of weeks, months and years.  They are in the process and entering it all in because, for 

whatever reason, the computer they were using crashed and they didn’t have any of the 

information in the computer. 

 

Attorney Coyle said the lien is actually filed against Nuala, is that correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said on the following page, it looks like a sister lien that is filed but it is actually 

against your name, Acela Ceja. 

 

Ms. Ceja asked where that was. 

 

Attorney Coyle answered page 17.  That is a lien against you personally, correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked have you ever seen Carlos Nunez serve alcohol at Cabo.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered no. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if that was never part of his duties. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered no.  They always have two to three bartenders there.  And her.  She hadn’t 

been there for a long time.  When they get their jump on the bar. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked she hasn’t been there for a long time. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered no. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked how long would she estimate. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered she was there for a while.  It’s months at a time.  A few weeks ago and then 

to check on the girls.  But she is rarely there.  She has to go to Salt Lake a lot for medical issues 

so she is hardly here in Elko. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked since Carlos Nunez was changed to just a DJ, what is the arrangement for 

a manager there. 

 

Ms. Ceja said, Danni, one of the bartenders.  She is the one performing the managing duties, 

helping her to order stock and all that stuff.  She’s the manager.  

 

Attorney Coyle said that was all he had, Mr. Mayor. 
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Mayor Keener asked if there were any questions, Council, for the appellant. 

 

Councilman Schmidtlein stated he had a couple questions.  Acela, what was the specific date that 

you filed with the Secretary of State on the change.  This year you filed with the Secretary of 

State.  You said you had seven weeks to file previous.  So what was the specific date you filed? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered that was the September date when they actually did that part.  They couldn’t 

change Kati because she was just too busy.  She had to change the registered agent and to do that 

she went to Gerber.  That’s what they said, that there was going to be a six to eight week delay 

because they are behind due to their program change.  The website change. 

 

Councilman Schmidtlein asked if Carlos was still on the license as a managing member on May 

16, 2019. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered he was on there, yes. 

 

Councilwoman Simons asked what license they are talking about.  The liquor license or the 

business license? 

 

Councilman Schmidtlein clarified the business. 

 

Ms. Ceja said the LLC.  The Nuala. 

 

Attorney Coyle said just for clarification, that is the liquor license. 

 

Mayor Keener said you do have a copy of the liquor license here in the packet.  What page is that 

on? 

 

Attorney Coyle answered it is on exhibit No. 7, which is page 33. 

 

Councilwoman Simons said because there was a failure to list his name on the liquor license but 

he was on the business license, correct? 

 

Attorney Coyle stated he didn’t believe it was on the business license either.  This is Cabo, 

which is Nuala and Acela. 

 

Councilwoman Simons said the Cabo liquor license. 

 

Attorney Coyle said yes. 

 

Councilman Schmidtlein said he wanted to make himself clear.  He had an understanding on one 

of the items.  She mentioned Carlos never served alcohol in the establishment. 

 

Ms. Ceja said no, he wasn’t a bartender. 

 

Councilman Schmidtlein said in 2018 or 2019, or both? 
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Ms. Ceja answered both. 

 

Councilman Stone asked if he ever had a bar card.   

 

Ms. Ceja answered she didn’t believe so.   

 

Councilman Stone asked if it would be appropriate for him to ask who the buyer is that is 

looking to buying the establishment, who would be a future owner.   

 

Councilman Schmidtlein said it would be irrelevant at this time. 

 

Councilwoman Simons asked what document is he on for this business.  Ms. Ceja is on all the 

documents.  Which documents is listed on for this business? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered the LLC.   

 

Councilwoman Simons repeated that he is listed on the LLC. 

 

Ms. Ceja said no, not anymore but he was. 

 

Councilwoman Simons said he has never been on the Cabo business license or liquor license. 

 

Ms. Ceja said no. 

 

Attorney Coyle said the business license application is found on page 73.  The business license is 

found on page 81 if you want to review them. 

 

Councilwoman Simons noted it says name all owners, partners but his name isn’t on there.  That 

was her question. 

 

Councilman Schmidtlein said but he was a partner. 

 

Councilwoman Simons restated that he was a partner in 2018. 

 

Councilman Schmidtlein said and 2019 if he understood that correctly. 

 

Councilman Hance had no questions at that time. 

 

Mayor Keener said if there were no further questions for the appellant then they would move on 

with the City’s witnesses, is that correct? 

 

Attorney Coyle answered yes.  He called Detective Jake Eisinger.  Kelly Wooldridge swore him 

in.   

 

Mayor Keener asked him to state his name and address of the Police Department for the record. 

 

Mr. Eisinger stated Jacob Eisinger, 1448 Silver Street. 
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Attorney Coyle asked what is his occupation. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered he is a Police Detective for the City of Elko Police Department. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked how long have you been so employed? 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered since February 2012. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked are you familiar with an individual named Carlos Nunez? 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes he was. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked is this person associated with a liquor license in the City of Elko. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes he is. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what establishment was that. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered that’s the Cabo bar. 

 

Attorney Coyle said directing your attention to May 16th of this year, did you initiate and 

investigation involving that individual? 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes he did. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked where was the location of the investigation. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered it originated out of Cowboys Bar. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if he went to Cowboys bar. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes he did. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what was observed there. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered a one dollar bill.  Inside the one dollar bill was cocaine. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked where was that one dollar bill found. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered it was located on a bar table inside the bar. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked as far as saying that there was cocaine present, how is that confirmed. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered he used a presumptive narcotics identification kit to test the substance.  

And the presumptive tested positive for cocaine. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked how is cocaine categorized in the Nevada Law. 
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Mr. Eisinger answered it is a schedule one controlled substance, meaning that it has no medical 

use and is highly addictive. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked how is possession and use of cocaine treated in Nevada Law. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered it is a felony crime in the State of Nevada. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked at some point did you observe video of how that substance came to be at 

that location. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes he did. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked can you describe what you observed in the video. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered based on the appearance of the video, it appears that Carlos and another 

gentleman, specifically Carlos, produced the cocaine and throughout the contents of the video, 

consumed the cocaine.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked how many persons were present.   

 

Mr. Eisinger answered four. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked did they all consume.   

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked did you provide to him any photographs of what you are describing.   

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes he did. 

 

Attorney Coyle said if you would look at exhibit 5, beginning on page 18, can you describe what 

is being depicted in that exhibit.   

 

Mr. Eisinger answered in this picture you see Carlos is sitting on a couch inside Cowboys bar.  

He has an object in his hand.  It is believed to be cocaine.  It appears that he is handing it off to 

another individual. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if that was on page 19. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes.  Page 18 in his packet just says exhibit 5. 

 

Attorney Coyle said page 20, what is depicted there. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered page 20 is Carlos opening the bindle or the package. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked would that be the package containing the cocaine. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes. 
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Attorney Coyle asked what is depicted on page 21. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered page 21 would be a picture of Carlos using his pinkie finger to ingest 

cocaine through his nose. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what is depicted on page 22. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered page 22 would be all four of them around a circle.  It’s kind of hard to tell 

in this photograph, but Carlos has a one dollar bill in his hand. 

 

Attorney Coyle said page 23. 

 

Mr. Eisinger said page 23 would be the dollar bill found with the cocaine inside of it when he 

went to Cowboys. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked, these still photographs, are they from the video.   

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes they are. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked do they accurately depict what was shown in the video.   

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked did you contact any of the participants in the video to determine if what 

you were seeing was accurate. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes he did. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked who he contacted. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered he contacted two of the individuals in there.  One of them being Danny 

Hoang.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked if he was a licensee or one of the licensees of Cowboys.   

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes he is. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if he confirmed the date and time in the video. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes he did. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked did he confirm that it was showing cocaine use by him and others. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes he did. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked did you contact one of the females in the video. 
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Mr. Eisinger answered yes he did. 

 

Mr. Coyle asked did she confirm the same things basically. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes she did. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked did you prepare a written report concerning this investigation and that 

interview with the female. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes he did. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked is that accurately shown in exhibit 6.  If you would look at that and the 

pages following.  It is a redacted version.   

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes the interview with the female report would be an accurate depiction 

starting on page 30. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what about your investigative report.  Is that also contained in exhibit 6? 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes it is.  That is an accurate depiction starting on page 25. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked did you yourself serve Mr. Nunez with the notice of this meeting.   

 

Mr. Eisinger answered he did not himself. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked are you aware of which officer at the Police Department did.   

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes.  Sergeant Locuson and Officer Bogden.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked did he have a discussion with them of the circumstances of that service. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered yes, he spoke with Sergeant Locuson about the service. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what is your understanding as to how they were able to serve that 

individual. 

 

Mr. Eisinger answered they had gone down to Cabo to catch Carlos at the bar.  They were told 

by a bar employee that Carlos had to run to the store to purchase tequila for the bar and that he 

would be back within about 20-30 minutes.  Sergeant Locuson had to go to another call.  He 

came back after he finished that call.  He was again told by a bar employee that Carlos had to go 

to Smiths to purchase more items for the bar and that he would be back relatively quickly.  

Sergeant Locuson waited an approximate 20 minutes.  An individual approached Sergeant 

Locuson as he was parked in the downtown parking corridor and advised Sergeant Locuson that 

Carlos was at his place of residence.  Sergeant Locuson then drove up to Carlos’ place of 

residence where Carlos answered the door and he was served his notice.   

 

Attorney Coyle said he would pass the witness. 
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Mayor Keener asked if there were any questions from the board.  He asked Ms. Ceja if she had 

any questions of the witness.   

 

Ms. Ceja indicated she did not have any questions. 

 

Mayor Keener said the witness was excused. 

 

Attorney Coyle called the City Clerk, Kelly Wooldridge.   

 

Kelly Wooldridge took the witness stand and Diann Byington swore her in. 

 

Mayor Keener asked her to state her name and address for the record. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge stated Kelly Wooldridge, 1751 College Avenue. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what is your occupation. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered she is the City Clerk for the City of Elko. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked how long have you been so employed. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered since June 2018. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what duties do you have under the City Code regarding liquor licenses. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered for liquor licenses, the City Clerk is responsible to take the 

application once the liquor license is filed and then turn the application over to the Chief of 

Police for investigation.  The City Clerk also may issue a temporary license for the liquor license 

application upon approval from the Chief during the investigation period.  The City Clerk issues 

the license after the approval of the City Council.  The City Clerk issues quarterly renewal 

notices and collects the quarterly fees.  We also will send out late notices in certified mail if the 

liquor licenses are late.  The City Clerk will issue a non-renewal notice according to code if the 

applicant licensee or licensed business is in violation of any provision of the code.  The City 

Clerk can also take complaints regarding the business and follow-up regarding possible 

remedies.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked with regards to the business licenses, you maintain the records and files for 

both the business license and the liquor license. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered correct. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked in this case, did you issue the notice of non-renewal to Nuala LLC, dba 

Cabo. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked is a copy of that notice found in exhibit 3 of the exhibit packet. 
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Ms. Wooldridge answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked can you describe for the Council what you based your decision on to issue 

this non-renewal notice. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered the non-renewal notice was issued on information that she had 

received from Chief Reed regarding the violation of the agreement that was dated March 26, 

2019.  That Ms. Ceja was not actively participating in the management of the bar.  That Mr. 

Nunez had provided a controlled substance on a different liquor licensee holder at the Cowboys 

bar after hours, and that Mr. Nunez was in possession of a controlled substance on another liquor 

licensee’s premises and that Mr. Nunez was leaving the controlled substance remnants in the 

liquor license premises.  Cabo had a pattern of late liquor license payments, as well as, a pattern 

of late water and sewer payments with shut off notices.    

 

Attorney Coyle asked the liquor license for Nuala, is that found in exhibit 7. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked were you aware of the members of Nuala LLC at the time the license was 

obtained. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes because part of the business license application includes a printout 

from the Secretary of State’s office for the state business application.  It lists the members of the 

LLC. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if that was both Carlos Nunez and Acela Ceja. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if Nualla LLC dba Cabo operate with other members for a period of time 

prior to this. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes they did.  They operated from April 14, 2016 to July 21, 2017.  

On the application that had Florentino Ayala and Acela.  They were both 50% members.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked how long were they operating that business. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered until July 21, 2017. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked were you present when Ms. Ceja testified today. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle said we went through late payments and shut offs and all of those things.  Was 

that accurate testimony? 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes. 

 



 

09/27/2019 Special Council Session Cabo Hearing  Page 22 of 32 

Attorney Coyle asked as far as documentation for those late payments and shuts offs, etc., is that 

contained in exhibit 9 of the exhibit packet.  

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked with regard to the water and sewer payments from April 2016 to 2017, it’s 

accurate to say they had 12 late payments and 7 shut offs.  Is that correct? 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes.  She thought they had 7 shut off notices and 2 actual shut offs. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what happened at the end of July 2017 with regard to that prior ownership 

and license.  

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered the quarterly liquor licenses are paid quarterly and the quarterly liquor 

license payment was not made.  They were noticed by certified mail that it was late and the 

payment was not made.  The Clerk’s Office sent a letter indicating that the liquor license was 

being revoked on July 21, 2017 for non-payment.    

 

Attorney Coyle asked was it in fact revoked then. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes it was. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what happened with regard to Cabo after that revocation.     

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered it was her understanding they were closed during that time and there 

were a couple of instances that they wanted to re-open but were unable to do so due to the issues 

with State tax payments. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked how did they get to the current license. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered it was her understanding they were able to make the appropriate 

amount of payments that the State Tax would issue them a tax identification number.  They had 

to go through the application process again where they filled out the business license application 

and the liquor license application and went through the investigation with the Chief and they 

were issued a license.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked upon obtaining that license, you heard the testimony of Ms. Ceja 

concerning additional late payments and shut offs, etc., in her testimony, was that accurate.   

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked would it be correct to say from July 2018 to current, there have been 12 

late payments and 2 shut offs.   

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered correct. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if she was aware of any other problems of Cabo in that timeframe with 

regard to other utilities. 
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Ms. Wooldridge answered she had been told but did not have any documentation of it, that they 

are also late on their sanitation payments.  

 

Attorney Coyle asked with regard to their liquor license payments during that same timeframe, 

have they paid those timely. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered she believed there had been one late payment during that time.  

 

Attorney Coyle said backup documentation for…  This is for exhibit 10? 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes it is. 

 

Attorney Coyle said he wanted to refer her to exhibit 4 concerning the Department of Taxation.  

Do you recognize the documents contained in that beginning on page 14. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered yes she did. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what was shown there, if she could advise the Council. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered this is a letter we received from Department of Taxation upon our 

request for documentation.  They indicate that the Nevada Department of Taxation shows and 

outstanding sales tax balance of $10,735.10.  Returns have not been filed for 8/31/18, 10/31/18 

through 7/31/19.   

 

Attorney Coyle said he passed the witness. 

 

Mayor Keener asked Ms. Ceja if she had any questions of the witness at all. 

 

Ms. Ceja indicated she did not. 

 

Mayor Keener asked if there was anything from Council.  He knows Kelly’s department is very 

busy, that she stretches a thin staff a long way, what kind of impact does it have on her day to 

day operations and overall efficiency when you have businesses that are deficient in the timely 

payment of their fees in terms of their water bills and business licenses.  What kind of impact 

does that have on your staff? 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered it does take up quite a bit of staff time in order to send out the 

certified letters, which by code we are not required to do but we do send out a certified letter for 

late payments.  Actually, the one time they were late this last time they were late she asked 

Debbie, our Business License Technician, to call Ms. Ceja.  We called her that day at 3:00 letting 

them know they needed to get it there by 5:00 or we were going to have to shut her down.  It 

takes quite a bit of staff time.  Also on the water side, they have to send out late notices and they 

go out and post notices on the door of the business.  Then they have to schedule the water guys 

to go out and do the actual shut off.  If they come in, which usually happens at the last minute, 

and pay, we have to contact them and say you don’t need to do this shut off anymore.  It is time 

consuming for staff.     
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Mayor Keener asked if you look at just that sector alone, of ours, is that very common for 

operators to chronically be late with payments. 

 

Ms. Wooldridge answered no, not on all of them. 

 

Mayor Keener asked if anybody else had questions.  He thanked Ms. Wooldridge and excused 

her from the stand. 

 

Attorney Coyle called Chief Reed to the stand.  Kelly Wooldridge swore him in. 

 

Mayor Keener asked him to state his name for the record. 

 

Chief Reed answered Ben Reed, the Police Chief for the City of Elko.  His address is 1448 Silver 

Street.  

 

Attorney Coyle asked how long had he been so employed, 

 

Chief Reed answered approximately 6 years. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what duties do you have under the City Code relative to liquor licensees. 

 

Chief Reed answered lots of them.  He wrote a few notes.  To summarize, duties will include 

investigating liquor license applicants.  Last time he checked we had about 85 to 90 of those City 

wide.  Provide recommendations to the City Council as to approval or disapproval of formal 

licenses.  Inspect premises.  Meet with licensees.  Issue warnings.  Coordinate with the Clerk 

over all kinds of disciplinary matters.  He issues Special Event Liquor Licenses, roughly 50 or so 

of those annually for special event liquor.  They will investigate, issue and discipline bartender 

work permits which are intertwined in all of this because those bartenders work for those liquor 

licensees.  He and his staff enforce all various provisions of the Elko Liquor Control Code.  

That’s it in a nutshell. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked under the liquor control code, which is found in Title 4 Chapter 5, what 

type of license is a liquor license in the city.   

 

Chief Reed answered it is a privileged license.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked in your understanding, what distinguishes a privileged license.   

 

Chief Reed answered examples would be the liquor license, a brothel license.  They are a 

privilege.  You are privileged to possess them.  In other words, it is not automatic.  You just 

don’t come in and fill out a form and walk away with some license.  It is a privilege to possess 

one.  They require conditions which are spelled out in the code to even get one and to maintain 

one.  A level of trust from that privilege licensee holder; that they are going to abide by the 

various codes applicable to those licenses.  In this case we are talking about a liquor license 

specifically.  Like you said, Title 4, Chapter 5, in which the liquor licensees are responsible to 

perform various duties to hold that privilege license. 
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Attorney Coyle asked are there special concerns for public safety and welfare concerning liquor 

licensees in the City of Elko. 

 

Chief Reed answered there are a ton of them.  They are illuminated in 4-5-2A, specifically about 

public safety, morals, welfare of the public and protection of the public.  His concerns have to do 

with over service of patrons, public intoxication that leads to fights and disorderly conduct. They 

have experience with everything going on surrounding liquor licensees in general to include 

sexual assaults, off premises, on premises, drug use, drug sales, illegal gaming, illegal 

prostitution, DUIs, minors being in bars, minors consuming alcohol, you name it. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if he was present during the testimony of Detective Eisinger and City 

Clerk Wooldridge. 

 

Chief Reed answered yes sir. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked also during the testimony of Ms. Ceja. 

 

Chief Reed answered yes sir. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked are you recommending to the Council that the liquor license of Nuala, dba 

Cabo, not be renewed.   

 

Chief Reed answered correct. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked with regard to Nuala, when they made the application, the only one listed 

as an owner was Acela Ceja.  Do you recall that? 

 

Chief Reed answered correct.  This most recent liquor license application, yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked your duties to investigate, would they include investigating anyone with a 

financial interest in the business. 

 

Chief Reed answered correct unless required per the code as pointed out earlier. 

 

Attorney Coyle said in this case there was no investigation of Carlos Nunez.   

 

Chief Reed answered correct. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked was that because he was not listed as a owner. 

 

Chief Reed answered primarily, yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked would that be like a material misrepresentation on the application. 

 

Chief Reed answered yes, it would be.  If he could add, the only thing, he found Ms. Ceja’s 

testimony to be accurate except for one area that he would disagree with.  That was the 

involvement of Carlos Nunez in operation of the business.  He can say that they have numerous 

occasions from his staff that have been on scene over the last couple of years, without calling out 
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exact dates, when they have responded to calls for service or they have been down there for 

fights, this that and the other, or they have been there proactively on walk-throughs and security 

checks, and Carlos has been the manager or head of security or on point for running the business 

many, many times.  They could pull up crime reports if they needed to and that would be 

documented.  Patrol Officer responded and contacted Carlos Nunez, etc…   

 

Attorney Coyle asked it was probably accurate in her testimony that she is rarely present. 

 

Chief Reed answered he can’t say that himself.  He has not heard of her being present many 

times down there.  He knows she has been present at times but if he had to guess that has 

probably been sporadic.  As far as the day to day operations of actually being there during the 

night when they are busy, he can tell them maybe they are going to get there but he has had 

meetings with both of them about concerns of operation of the bar over the last couple of years.  

He is definitely in the mix.  He can tell them that he, regarding his involvement, he is a signatory 

and agreed to the probationary agreement.  

 

Attorney Coyle said March of this year. 

 

Chief Reed said earlier this year in March.  It was March 26, 2019 and signed as an individual 

and as a member or component of Nuala.  That document is notarized.  He also appeared before 

the Council.  By his recollection, they both did and he appeared at the microphone right over 

hear at the next Council Meeting the first part of April in which he, in a nutshell, agreed to abide 

by the probationary terms and that there wouldn’t be any future problems.  That was earlier this 

year again.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked prior to the appeal document, were you advised that his role had changed 

or that his ownership had changed. 

 

Chief Reed answered no. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked going back to that March 26th agreement, do you recall the events leading 

to that, the prior disciplinary action. 

 

Chief Reed answered they had information at the Police Department that there was a minor, 

juvenile, he believed he was 16, who went to the bar, was allowed to enter, was allowed to be 

there for several hours, consumed at least one alcoholic beverage.  They investigated that and 

proved it to be accurate.  Eventually brought a formal disciplinary action against the liquor 

licencees which were both Acela Ceja and Carlos Nunez.  He and other representatives of the 

City met with them prior to bringing them forth in a hearing before the Council and actually 

worked out an agreement in which they stipulated to that violation of the code and were placed 

on a probationary status.  There were a number of other disciplinary measures they had to meet.  

Those are in that document which he knows is in the exhibits.  The Council ratified that 

agreement at their next meeting.  That avoided a hearing such as this.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked during that investigation of that particular event of the minor entering 

Cabo, had there ever been discussions with Cabo from law enforcement before that happened. 
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Chief Reed answered there had been. Those discussions were from him meeting with Acela and 

her previous business partner when she owned the business, when they were the liquor licensees 

the first time.  And then later he met with her a couple more times in 2017 and 2018 about 

concerns and operations of the bar and one of those occasions was with Carlos as well. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked going back to the events leading up to the admitted violation in the 

disciplinary agreement, had law enforcement advised Mr. Nunez he could not have a minor in 

there.  Had he sought permission to get this minor in there? 

 

Chief Reed answered in a roundabout way.  He didn’t know if it was that exact minor but he 

contacted the patrol lieutenant just prior to that incident.  He believed the incident with the minor 

happened back in November of 2018.  He asked if it would be okay if he had allowed minors 

into the bar if they were somehow involved in the band or playing music.  He was told that was 

not allowed per the code.  He also asked a patrol officer prior to that in the field on a bar check 

and was directed to the lieutenant.  He later asked the lieutenant and got the same answer both 

times.  Afterwards the incident happened and they became aware of it.  He asked twice, was told 

no and then essentially did it anyway.  He thought that particularly egregious at the time for the 

reason Attorney Coyle pointed out but also due to the age of the individual.  They weren’t 

talking about something that they unknowingly, accidentally had a 20 something year old who 

got through with a fake ID and didn’t know and you claim innocence.  This was a 16 year old 

boy who was allowed to enter, stay and then consume.  That led to the probationary period they 

had been talking about earlier this year in March. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked with regard to pending criminal matters concerning these appellants, did 

he have any knowledge of that. 

 

Chief Reed asked the cocaine issue or others? 

 

Attorney Coyle referred him to exhibit 11 and asked him to address what is reflected there.  

 

Chief Reed said he was familiar with this.  Exhibit 11 starts off with a copy of a warrant of arrest 

for Carlos Nunez.  It is a bench warrant.  This warrant was just recently served, in fact, last week, 

Thursday night of last week.  He was arrested and booked at the jail on this warrant.  This 

warrant is a bench warrant out of Elko Justice Court for failure to appear back in July 2017.  The 

original charges are two counts of NRS 624.750.2A.  He did review this.  It is misdemeanor 

violations of Nevada Revised Statute for essentially operating as a building contractor without a 

license.  He was not familiar with the back story on this warrant.   

 

Attorney Coyle said that was fine. 

 

Chief Reed said it was brought by the state.  They considered it pretty egregious apparently.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked were you aware of an open prosecution with regard to Ms. Ceja.   

 

Chief Reed answered he was. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked what would be that charge in that particular case.  
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Chief Reed answered she has a pending criminal case in Elko County for battery.  This stemmed 

from an investigation of an incident last fall 2018.  It occurred at Walmart.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked if it had not been adjudicated then. 

 

Chief Reed answered it had not been adjudicated.  A warrant was issued through the DA’s Office 

on their case.  She was arrested on March 4, 2019 on a misdemeanor charge of battery.  They 

checked on that just a few days ago and it does not have a final disposition and that case is still 

pending.  In fact, the DA asked for additional information.  It has not been fully adjudicated.   

 

Councilwoman Simons told Ms. Ceja that she would have a chance to cross examine. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked are you aware of this claim from testimony that Ms. Ceja provided about a 

separation or something going on between herself and Mr. Nunez.   

 

Chief Reed answered he has heard that from her several times before. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked how long have you heard that.  

 

Chief Reed answered a rough estimate 1 to 2 years.  She’s told that to him before that they are 

divorcing or in the process of a divorce, or splitting up or separated or something.  Maybe 2 or 3 

times she’s told that to him when they have talked over the last couple of years.  All of their talks 

have been formal at scheduled meetings regarding issues with the liquor license or her as an 

applicant.   

 

Attorney Coyle asked how long has he been in charge of enforcing the Elko Liquor Control 

Code. 

 

Chief Reed answered all six years. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked did you have similar enforcement responsibilities in other jurisdictions 

before that. 

 

Chief Reed answered similar.  A portion of it when he was a Police Captain in another 

jurisdiction.  Ultimately the buck did not stop at his desk, it stopped with the Chief but he was 

involved in the process. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked considering the totality of the evidence and circumstances, in your 

opinion, does Nuala LLC or the appellant have the good moral character or satisfactory business 

responsibility required under our Elko Liquor Control Code. 

 

Chief Reed answered no.  

 

Attorney Coyle asked is there a lack of fitness to be a liquor licensee.   

 

Chief Reed answered there is.   
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Attorney Coyle asked would there be grounds for discipline for late payments and other 

violations of the City Code. 

 

Chief Reed answered there would be, yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked would there be grounds to deny a license if they were applying for one for 

lack of business responsibility or a likelihood to lead to further violations of the code. 

 

Chief Reed answered yes. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked also for insufficient good moral conduct and satisfactory business 

responsibility.   

 

Chief Reed answered yes.  In fact, he thought they demonstrated here today…  Each and every 

one of these things in itself is sufficient.  We have a large variety and numerous instances in 

every direction here.  From our standpoint, and just speaking freely, to remind the Council, one 

of the things he does in particular and have done since he became the Chief, is when new 

applicants for liquor licenses come in, and in particularly when they are applying for a liquor 

license for something that he would describe as difficult or sometimes hazardous, such as a bar, 

he meets with them, all of them.  He hands them a copy of the liquor control code.  He points out 

common ways in which they can get sideways of the code.  He tries to give them some guidance 

on how to comply and what we expect at the Police Department.  He thinks it’s a worthy 

conversation.  He thinks it’s a two-way street.  He points out they can assist them when they are 

doing their security checks if they have problems in the bars as well.  He does that and then when 

he becomes aware of problems he typically meets with and maybe issue a warning.  That was 

done a couple of times with Acela because she is in a unique circumstance of being the licensee 

on two go-arounds here with two other different people, with a revocation brought by their non-

payment in between.  There has been opportunity after opportunity to get this right is this point.  

By the time we end up asking for assistance from the Council, and at this time the appellant did, 

its late in the game and we have lots of egregious violations.  You can pick one here.  We have 

water issues, public safety, fire safety, cocaine use by one of the licensees.  All of this that we are 

bringing up today, the new stuff was done while the licensees are already on probation from back 

in March.  He doesn’t know what else staff could have done to assist them in their successful 

business practices, but we are way beyond that. 

 

Attorney Coyle said he would pass the witness. 

 

Mayor Keener asked if the board had any questions of Chief Reed.  Does the appellant have any 

questions of Chief Reed? 

 

Ms. Ceja said Carlos’ involvement was up until the last week of April.  Before then he was 

involved.  On her issue, she was under the assumption that it was thrown out because, she 

contested it.  It was something that wasn’t true.  She was going to court for that and the lawyer 

said it was thrown out.  The witness never showed and there wasn’t enough evidence.  The 

reason she was arrested was the Sheriff’s Department was looking for her at the previous 

address.  That’s where they took the paperwork and they couldn’t find her.  When they went to 

her place of business, she was in Salt Lake for another appointment.  When she came back that 
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was when she went to ask what it was about.  They arrested her then and she was released the 

same day. 

 

Attorney Coyle asked if there were questions for the Chief. 

 

Ms. Ceja answered no.   

 

Chief Reed said, for the Council’s benefit, there were other criminal violations on behalf of the 

business owner with that privilege license.  The information they received from the court just last 

week showed that wasn’t completed to adjudication yet.  As far as he knows, it is still pending.  

Our agency did investigate the original case and then it went to warrant.   

 

Mayor Keener said if there is nothing, he dismissed Chief Reed.  He asked Ms. Ceja if would 

like to add anything.  Is there was anything she would like to rebut.  Would she like to provide 

some closing arguments?  

 

Ms. Ceja answered no.  She thought everything else had been said.  She didn’t know what else to 

say after hearing all of this. 

 

Mayor Keener thanked her and asked if Mr. Coyle had anything to add or do they go directly 

into deliberation.  

 

Attorney Coyle said he had prepared a lengthy recap of all of the evidence and testimony before 

the Council. One thing beforehand, he offered into evidence for the Council formally, the exhibit 

packet that should be made part of the record.  He thought as the Chief summarized in his 

testimony, the overall pattern and the serious conduct here. This sort of thing speaks for itself.  

We have a situation where these licensees are not of satisfactory business responsibility.  He 

asked the appeal be denied and the notice of non-renewal be upheld by the City Clerk.   

 

Mayor Keener said he referenced the exhibit packet, and for the benefit of those that are tuning 

in online, that contains high resolution photos of the evidence.  He just wanted to state that 

plainly.  We have a recommendation by the Elko Police Department of non-renewal, by our City 

Attorney and also by our Clerk’s Office.  Given that recommendation, it’s a very high hurdle for 

an applicant to overcome that, however, when you complicate it by the fact that you are already 

on probation, it becomes almost an impossible thing to overcome.  He has heard the evidence.  

He has been tracking this as a liaison with the Elko Police Department for a number of months 

and he heard everything he needs to hear to convince him beyond a reasonable doubt that there is 

no basis to renew this liquor license.  He felt like we will be in another special hearing like this 

again.  Look at all the staff time this has consumed; a tremendous amount of staff time.  It is a 

black eye for all of the operators out there of bars and liquor establishments that operate them in 

responsible ways.  He probably said more than enough.  Any other board comments?   

 

Councilman Hance said in looking back at the paperwork, the business license should have never 

have been issued in the first place, back on 4/20/2018 because the business license application 

was incomplete.  It only shows one of the two owners even listed on the business license 

application.  It goes downhill from there if you go through the rest of the paperwork.  There is a 

lot of non-compliance at that point.  Then along with all of the other incidents that have 

happened in there, he agreed that it was too much for a privilege license.  It’s hard to get a 
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business license, much less a privilege license, and maintain it legally.  There are way too many 

issues in his opinion. 

 

Councilman Schmidtlein said he wanted to point out a few things, mainly to Acela.  Back in 

March 26, he went ahead and re-copied the transcript of what was said at the meeting.  He pulled 

that up today.  He wanted to make sure the licensees understood what they were signing.  Do you 

recall us having that conversation at the last Council Meeting?  So he said Acela and Carlos both 

said they understood what the agreement was.  You understood what you were signing, correct? 

 

Ms. Ceja answered correct. 

 

Councilman Schmidtlein said he also went on to mention, and it has been mentioned several 

times tonight, that a liquor license is a privileged license. And you totally understood that as 

well.  We can take disciplinary action at any given moment.  “I hope they don’t come back to the 

Council because, if so, they will revoke the license.”  Here we are today at another hearing, 

during a probation period of time.  Does that make sense?   

 

** A motion was made by Councilman Schmidtlein, seconded by Councilman Hance, 

with some of the findings in reference to a motion: a liquor license is a privilege license and 

the Elko Liquor Control Code is designated to require high standards to protect the public 

health, safety, morals and welfare, as the Chief indicated to today.  Our code prohibits 

renewal of a license if there is any violation which impacts the licensed business or 

operation under 4-5-10G.  Code does not permit an automatic renewal.  There is not 

compliance with our Liquor Control Code.  Licensees are required to be in a good moral 

character and satisfactory business responsibility under 4-5-6A and 4-5-13A.  The licensees 

previously admitted violations of the Elko Liquor Control Code and entered into a 

probationary license status by stipulation as shown in the agreement regarding liquor 

licenses discipline dated March 26, 2019.  Grounds for license discipline under 4-5-13A 

include late payments, violations of any Liquor Control Code or City Code or any law of 

the state or the United States regarding the sales, serving or dispensing of liquors, 

pertaining to the operation of the licensed business.  Further grounds include a licensee 

unsatisfactory fitness and any ground that would be sufficient to deny a license, which 

includes business responsibilities and whether the issuance is likely to lead to further 

violations and good moral character and satisfactory business responsibilities.  The 

evidence in testimony concerning past and present license payments, utility payments and 

shut-off history of the license, the cocaine incident wherein one member of the licensee at 

the time conducted such activities on a fellow liquor license premises, concerns regarding 

the composition of Nuala as licensee and the continued involvement of Nunez, and failures 

in delays in removing him from the licensed entity and activities, the unpaid state taxes, all 

of this, especially in light of a recent licensee discipline in March of this year, and that this 

license is currently on probation, are sufficient to show violations of our Liquor Control 

Code.  A likelihood of further violations were the licensee be renewed and a lack of good 

moral character and/or satisfactory business responsibilities, and violations of the Liquor 

Control Code.  The appeal is therefore denied and the decision of the City Clerk of not to 

renew the liquor license is upheld.  The licensees’ authority to conduct liquor license 

activities will end on Monday, September 30, 2019, at 11:59 p.m. and all liquor on the 

premises must immediately be removed from the premises at the time to be verified by the 

Elko Police Department.   
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Mayor Keener asked if there was any public comment or would Ms. Ceja care to comment. 

 

Ms. Ceja indicated she had no comment. 

 

The motion passed unanimously.  (5-0) 
 

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC 

 

Pursuant to N.R.S. 241, this time is devoted to comments by the public, if any, and 

discussion of those comments. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this 

item on the agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on a successive 

agenda and identified as an item for possible action. ACTION WILL NOT BE TAKEN 

 

There were no public comments. 

 

There being no further business, Mayor Reece Keener adjourned the meeting. 

 

 

 

 

_________________________________          ______________________________ 

Mayor Reece Keener                                      Kelly Wooldridge, City Clerk 

 






































































































































































































































































































